ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 
 

 1. Does Wis. Admin. Code GAB 1.28, as amended 
July 31, 2010, violate the First Amendment of the United 
States Constitution or Article I, Section 3 of the Wisconsin 
Constitution? 
 
 
 2. Whether the July 2010 amendments to GAB 
1.28 were within the Government Accountability Board’s 
authority under §§ 5.05(1)(f) and 227.11(2)(a), Wis. Stats., to 
“interpret and implement” the provisions of Chapter 11 “to 
effectuate the purpose of the statute”?   
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND 
PUBLICATION 

 
 Oral argument and publication of the Court’s decision 
are appropriate, consistent with the Court’s general practice.  



INTRODUCTION 
 

Three flaws permeate, and ultimately doom, 
Petitioners’ facial constitutional challenge to Wis. Admin. 
Code § GAB 1.28 (hereafter “GAB 1.28”). 

 
First, Petitioners mistakenly invoke a “long standing 

principle of constitutional jurisprudence” that “issue 
advocacy may not be regulated.” Petitioner’s Brief (“Pet. 
Br.”), at 35.  The Supreme Court has “rejected the notion that 
the First Amendment requires Congress to treat so-called 
issue advocacy differently from express advocacy.”  
McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 194 (2003).  The point was 
re-emphasized last year in the context of disclosure and 
disclaimer requirements: “[W]e reject Citizens United’s 
contention that the disclosure requirements must be limited to 
speech that is the functional equivalent of express advocacy.”  
Citizens United v. FEC, 130 S.Ct. 876, 915 (2010).  

 
Second, Petitioners ignore that GAB 1.28 triggers only 

Chapter 11’s disclosure and disclaimer requirements – the 
amount of speech is not limited in any respect.  McConnell 
and Citizens United rejected First Amendment challenges to 
the same general registration, reporting and disclaimer 
requirements.  Lower courts since Citizens United have 
uniformly rejected similar facial attacks.  See, e.g., Minnesota 
Citizens Concerned for Life, Inc. v. Swanson, 2010 WL 
3768041 (D. Minn., Sept. 20, 2010) at *9 (“Such laws are 
permissible under Citizens United.”).     

 
Third, Petitioners incorrectly assert GAB 1.28 is 

subject to “strict scrutiny.” Pet. Br. at 19.  Citizens United 
confirmed that “[d]isclaimer and disclosure requirements” are 
subject to “‘exacting scrutiny,’ which requires a ‘substantial 
relation’ between the disclosure requirement and a 
‘sufficiently important’ governmental interest.”  130 S.Ct. at 
914 (citations omitted).  The Court held that “the 
informational interest alone is sufficient to justify” FECA’s 
disclosure provisions.  Id. at 915-16.  The same 
“informational” interests underlie Wisconsin’s campaign 
finance laws.  See § 11.001(1), Wis. Stats. (“The legislature 
finds and declares that our democratic system of government 
can be maintained only if the electorate is informed.”). 
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 GAB 1.28 does exactly what was held to be 
constitutional in Citizens United: it requires disclosure and 
disclaimers for speech made just before an election that 
mentions a candidate and either uses the “magic words” 
(1.28(3)(a)) or is susceptible of no reasonable interpretation 
other than as an appeal to vote for or against the candidate 
(1.28(3)(b), the WRTL II test), so the electorate can make 
informed decisions and give proper weight to different 
speakers and messages.  Far from the “bureaucrats bent on 
silencing speech” portrayed in Petitioners’ brief, the non-
partisan former judges making up the GAB acted carefully to 
ensure Wisconsin’s compelling interest in a fully informed 
electorate is properly balanced against the First Amendment 
rights of speakers lobbing either compliments or criticisms at 
candidates shortly before an election.   
 
 Petitioners’ challenge to the GAB’s statutory authority 
is wholly without merit.  Sections 5.05(1)(f) and 227.11(2)(a), 
Wis. Stats., enable the GAB to promulgate rules to “interpret 
and implement” Chapter 11 consistent with the bounds of the 
First Amendment.  GAB 1.28 does just that. 
 

FACTS 
 

 This is a facial challenge to the constitutionality of 
GAB 1.28.  There is no record upon which the Court could 
rely to analyze the application of GAB 1.28 to any particular 
individual or organization.  While the colorful description of 
the various groups challenging the law establishes standing, it 
provides no grounds for anything but a facial challenge. 
Because the Court enjoined enforcement of the Rule days 
after its approval, there is likewise no record of enforcement 
upon which the Court could rely to assess its impact.   
 
 The only relevant “facts” are those historical facts 
leading up to the passage of the July 2010 amendments to the 
Rule.  Two things stand out.  First, the Rule is and has been 
written since its inception to interpret the term “political 
purpose” in Chapter 11, fleshing out what acts are done “for 
the purpose of influencing” an election.  Second, the Rule is 
and has been promulgated and amended in response to the 
evolving First Amendment jurisprudence of the United States 
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Supreme Court, careful to cleave the definition of “political 
purpose” to the allowable scope of regulation of speech 
relating to campaigns.  This history is consistent with the 
overriding purpose of Chapter 11 to “make readily available 
to the voters complete information as to who is supporting or 
opposing which candidate or what cause and to what extent, 
whether directly or indirectly,” because “our democratic 
system of government can be maintained only if the electorate 
is informed.”  § 11.001(1), Wis. Stats.  
 

A. “Political purpose” includes all acts done “for 
the purpose of influencing” elections. 

 
The statutory basis for GAB 1.28 is the term “political 

purpose,” the legislative dividing line between regulated and 
unregulated activity.  Section 11.01(16), Wis. Stats., currently 
provides in relevant part: 

 
 An act is for “political purposes” when it is 
done for the purpose of influencing the election or 
nomination for election of any individual to state or 
local office, for the purpose of influencing the recall 
from or retention in office of an individual holding 
a state or local office, for the purpose of payment of 
expenses incurred as a result of a recount at an 
election, or for the purpose of influencing a 
particular vote at a referendum. . . . 
 
 (a) Acts which are for “political purposes” 
include but are not limited to: 
       
 1. The making of a communication which 
expressly advocates the election, defeat, recall or 
retention of a clearly identified candidate or a 
particular vote at a referendum. 

 
(Emphasis supplied.)  This core concept of regulating acts 
undertaken “for the purpose of influencing” elections has 
been part of Wisconsin law even before the enactment of 
Chapter 11.  
 
 Prior to 1973, the regulation of campaign finance 
activity was set forth in Chapter 12, then-titled “Corrupt 
Practices Relating to Elections.”  The term “political 
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purposes” was defined to include “any act . . . done with the 
intent . . . to influence or tend to influence, directly or 
indirectly, voting at any election or primary . . . .”  § 12.01(1), 
Wis. Stats. (1969-70).  When Chapter 11 was created, the 
definition of “political purposes” continued to focus on acts 
influencing or tending to influence an election: “An act is for 
‘political purposes’ when by its nature, intent or manner it 
directly or indirectly influences or tends to influence voting at 
any election.”  § 11.01(16), Wis. Stats. (1973-74).  
 
 The central importance of this “intent to influence” 
aspect of Chapter 11 is highlighted in § 11.002, Wis. Stats., 
the prefatory section instructing how the law’s provisions 
should be construed: 
 

This chapter shall be construed to impose the least 
possible restraint on persons or organizations whose 
activities do not directly affect the elective process, 
consistent with the right of the public to have a full, 
complete and readily understandable accounting of 
those activities intended to influence elections. 

 
(Emphasis supplied).  As demonstrated below, the Elections 
Board and GAB rulemaking has consistently sought to 
implement this purpose by ensuring that the statutory term 
“political purposes” applies, to the extent constitutionally 
allowed, to ensure public disclosure of all “activities intended 
to influence elections.”  
 

B. After Buckley, the Elections Board created 
§ ElBd 1.28 to interpret “political purpose” and 
the Legislature added “express advocacy” as 
one example of an act done for “political 
purposes.” 

 
 On January 30, 1976, the Supreme Court decided 
Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1 (1976), the facial challenge to 
the 1973 Federal Election Communications Act (“FECA”).  
FECA’s expenditure limitations and disclosure requirements 
applied to expenditures “relative to a clearly identified 
candidate.”  Id., 424 U.S. at 39.  The Court held that, in order 
to survive a vagueness challenge, this “relative to” language 
“must be construed to apply only to expenditures that 
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expressly advocate the election or defeat of a clearly 
identified candidate for federal office.”  Id. at 44.  In a 
footnote, the Court added: “[t]his construction would restrict 
the application” of FECA’s regulations “to communications 
containing express words of advocacy of election or defeat, 
such as ‘vote for, ‘elect,’ ‘support,’ ‘cast your ballot for,’ 
‘Smith for Congress,’ ‘vote against,’ ‘defeat,’ ‘reject.’”  Id. at 
44 n.52. These terms have colloquially been referred to as the 
“magic words.”   
 
 Notably, while the Court struck down FECA’s 
limitations on independent expenditures, see id. at 39-58, it 
upheld FECA’s disclosure provisions as applied to 
independent expenditures.  See id. at 84 (“In summary, we 
find no constitutional infirmities in the recordkeeping, 
reporting and disclosure provisions of the Act.”). 

 
In response to Buckley, two things happened.  First, the 

Elections Board engaged in emergency rulemaking and 
promulgated Wis. Admin. Code § ElBd 1.28, entitled “Scope 
of Regulated Activity; Election of Candidate.”  See Elections 
Board v. Wisconsin Manufacturers & Commerce, 227 
Wis. 2d 650, 663 n.12, 597 N.W.2d 721 (1999) (“WMC”).  
The rule provided that individuals other than candidates and 
organizations other than political committees were only 
subject to the “applicable disclosure-related and 
recordkeeping-related requirements of ch. 11” when they 
made “contributions for political purposes” or made 
“expenditures for the purpose of expressly advocating the 
election or defeat of an identified candidate.”  § ElBd 1.28 
(Jan. 1977). 

 
 Second, in 1979, the legislature amended the 

definition of “political purposes” by adding subsection (a), 
specifying that “[a]cts which are for ‘political purposes’ 
include but are not limited to: 1. The making of a 
communication which expressly advocates the election, 
defeat, recall or retention of a clearly identified candidate or a 
particular vote at a referendum.”  See § 11.01(16)(a)1., Wis. 
Stats. (1979); WMC, 227 Wis. 2d at 662-63.   
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D. After WMC, the Elections Board amended 
§ ElBd 1.28 to incorporate the Buckley “magic 
words” or their “functional equivalents.”  

  
In 1996 the Elections Board sought civil forfeitures 

against WMC for communications the Board deemed to be 
“express advocacy.”  The communications did not use the 
“magic words,” but the Board took the position that 
contextual factors could be taken into account in determining 
whether a communication constituted express advocacy.  
WMC challenged the enforcement proceeding on First 
Amendment and due process grounds.   

 
The Court agreed with WMC that the Elections Board 

did not provide adequate notice to WMC that its speech could 
be subject to regulation.  The Court contrasted the Board’s 
lack of rulemaking with the FEC’s efforts: 

 
Unlike the Board, the FEC has promulgated and 
published its interpretation of the statutory term 
express advocacy, which includes a context-based 
test, as an administrative rule.  By creating and 
attempting to apply its new, context-oriented 
interpretation of the statutory term express 
advocacy, the Board has, in effect, engaged in 
retroactive rulemaking. 

Id., 227 Wis. 2d at 678-79.  The Court declined to judicially 
define express advocacy, but instructed the Elections Board to 
go forth with rulemaking, consistent with the Supreme Court 
jurisprudence in place at the time: 
 

We stress that this holding places no restraints on 
the ability of the legislature and the Board to define 
further a constitutional standard of express 
advocacy to be prospectively applied.  We 
encourage them to do so, as we are well aware of 
the types of compelling state interests which may 
justify some very limited restrictions on First and 
Fourteenth Amendment rights . . .  

Id. at 681-82 (quoting Buckley, 424 U.S. at 43) (emphasis 
supplied).  See also id. at 680 (citing § 5.05(1)(f), Wis. Stats., 
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and remarking: “The creation of such a standard is properly 
the role of the legislature and the Board, not this Court.”). 
  

Heeding the Court’s encouragement, the Elections 
Board revised ElBd 1.28 in 2001 to include communications 
using the “magic words” from Buckley “or their functional 
equivalents with reference to the clearly identified candidate 
that expressly advocates the election or defeat of that 
candidate and that unambiguously relates to the campaign of 
that candidate.”  See § ElBd 1.28(3)(a) (2001). 

 
E. After McConnell, WRTL II, and Citizens United, 

the GAB amended GAB 1.28 to remain 
consistent with Supreme Court jurisprudence. 

 
 The Rule remained in its 2001 iteration through July 
2010.  During that time frame, the Supreme Court decided 
three landmark cases redefining the First Amendment 
landscape in the context of campaign finance regulation.   
 

In McConnell, the Supreme Court rejected a series of 
constitutional challenges to the Bipartisan Campaign Reform 
Act of 2002 (“BCRA”).  One part of BCRA requires 
disclosures and disclaimers for any “electioneering 
communication,” defined as a communication aired within 30 
days of a primary or 60 days of a general election that uses 
the name and likeness of a candidate and is broadcast to a 
targeted audience.  McConnell rejected a facial challenge to 
these provisions. 

 
The Court began by “reject[ing] the notion that the 

First Amendment requires Congress to treat so-called issue 
advocacy differently from express advocacy . . . .”  
McConnell, 540 U.S. at 194.  See also id. at 190 (rejecting 
plaintiffs’ argument that “speakers possess an inviolable right 
to engage in [issue advocacy]”).  Answering the argument 
that Buckley created a “constitutionally mandated line 
between express advocacy and so-called issue advocacy,” the 
Court stated: “That position misapprehends our prior 
decisions, for the express advocacy restriction was an 
endpoint of statutory interpretation, not a first principle of 
constitutional law.”  Id.  
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The Court had no trouble upholding the disclosure 
provisions.  Relying upon the “important state interests” of 
“providing the electorate with information, deterring actual 
corruption and avoiding any appearance thereof, and 
gathering the data necessary to enforce more substantive 
electioneering restrictions,” the Court noted: 

 
Plaintiffs’ disdain for BCRA’s disclosure provisions 
is nothing short of surprising. . . . Plaintiffs’ 
argument for striking down BCRA’s disclosure 
provisions does not reinforce the precious First 
Amendment values that Plaintiffs argue are 
trampled by BCRA, but ignores the competing First 
Amendment interests of individual citizens seeking 
to make informed choices in the political 
marketplace. 

Id., 540 U.S. at 196-97 (quoting with approval from the 
District Court’s opinion).  “Accordingly, Buckley amply 
supports application of FECA § 304’s disclosure 
requirements to the entire range of ‘electioneering 
communications.’”  Id. at 196. 
 

In FEC v. Wisconsin Right to Life, 551 U.S. 449 
(2007) (“WRTL II”), the Court considered WRTL’s challenge 
to BCRA’s prohibition of communications funded by 
corporate entities as applied to broadcast advertisements 
directed at Senators Feingold and Kohl.  Critical for purposes 
of this original action, a facial challenge to disclosure and 
disclaimer requirements, the issue in WRTL II was strictly 
limited to specific application of the outright ban on corporate 
speech contained in § 203 of BCRA, 2 U.S.C. § 441b.  See 
WRTL II, 551 U.S. at 455-56, 481.  The decision did not 
address BCRA’s disclosure and disclaimer requirements. 

 
The Court applied strict scrutiny to the ban on 

corporate electioneering communications.  WRTL II, 551 U.S. 
at 464.  The Court proceeded to adopt a test to delineate when 
corporate communications could be subject to BCRA’s 
prohibition: 

 
In light of these considerations, a court should find 
that an ad is the functional equivalent of express 
advocacy only if the ad is susceptible of no 
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reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal to 
vote for or against a specific candidate. 

WRTL II, 551 U.S. at 469-70.  Explaining why WRTL’s ads 
did not meet this test and thus could not be banned, the Court 
noted that:   
 

(1) “their content lacks indicia of express advocacy: 
the ads do not mention an election, candidacy, 
political party, or challenger”; and 

  
(2) “they do not take a position on a candidate’s 

character, qualifications, or fitness for office.”   
 

Id. at 470. 
   

In Citizens United, the Supreme Court once again 
considered the constitutionality of BCRA’s prohibitions on 
corporate speech, and this time reversed the long-standing 
constitutional principle that had banned the use of corporate 
or union money to fund political speech.  130 S.Ct. at 913 
(“[T]he government may not suppress political speech on the 
basis of the speaker’s corporate identity.”). 

 
The Court came to exactly the opposite conclusion, 

however, in the context of disclosure.  In robust language, the 
Court upheld the government’s ability to “regulate corporate 
political speech through disclaimer and disclosure 
requirements . . . .”  Id. at 886.  In an analysis that cuts to the 
heart of the Petitioners’ challenges to GAB 1.28, the Court 
rejected the argument that disclosure requirements must be 
confined to speech that is the functional equivalent of express 
advocacy: 

 
As a final point, Citizens United claims that, in any 
event, the disclosure requirements in § 201 must be 
confined to speech that is the functional equivalent 
of express advocacy.  The principal opinion in 
WRTL limited 2 U.S.C. § 441b’s restrictions on 
independent expenditures to express advocacy and 
its functional equivalent.  Citizens United seeks to 
import a similar distinction into BCRA’s disclosure 
requirements.  We reject this contention. 
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The Court has explained that disclosure is a less-
restrictive alternative to more comprehensive 
regulations of speech.  In Buckley, the Court upheld 
a disclosure requirement for independent 
expenditures even though it invalidated a provision 
that imposed a ceiling on those expenditures.  In 
McConnell, three Justices who would have found 
§ 441b to be unconstitutional nonetheless voted to 
uphold BCRA’s disclosure and disclaimer 
requirements.  And the Court has upheld 
registration and disclosure requirements of 
lobbyists, even though Congress has no power to 
ban lobbying itself.  For these reasons, we reject 
Citizens United’s contention that the disclosure 
requirements must be limited to speech that is the 
functional equivalent of express advocacy. 

Id. at 915 (citations omitted) (emphasis supplied).   
 
 Applying “exacting scrutiny” to the disclosure 
provisions, the Court focused on the “governmental interest in 
‘provid[ing] the electorate with information’ about the 
sources of election related spending.”  Id., 130 S.Ct. at 914 
(quoting Buckley, 424 U.S. at 66).  This “informational 
interest” was deemed so important that “[e]ven if the ads only 
pertain to a commercial transaction, the public has an interest 
in knowing who is speaking about a candidate shortly before 
an election.”  Id. at 915.  The Court concluded “the 
informational interest alone is sufficient to justify 
application” of the disclosure requirements to the ads.  Id. at 
915-16. 
   
 Echoing McConnell’s recognition of “the competing 
First Amendment interests of individual citizens seeking to 
make informed choices in the political marketplace,” 540 
U.S. at 197, the Court concluded its analysis of the 
constitutionality of disclosure requirements by stating: 
 

The First Amendment protects political speech; and 
disclosure permits citizens and shareholders to react 
to the speech of corporate entities in a proper way.  
This transparency enables the electorate to make 
informed decisions and give proper weight to 
different speakers and messages.

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