RECEIVED 02-23-2011

STATE OF WISCONSINOF WISCONSIN

T	N	J	S	U	P	R	E	M	E	C	O	U	R	T

No. 2010AP1937-OA

WISCONSIN PROSPERITY NETWORK, THE MACIVER INSTITUTE FOR PUBLIC POLICY, INC., AMERICANS FOR PROSPERITY, REVEREND DAVID KING, CONCERNED CITIZENS OF IOWA COUNTY, INC., DANIEL O. CURRAN, ORIANNAH PAUL, THE SHEBOYGAN LIBERTY COALITION, KIMBERLY J. SIMAC, and NORTHWOODS PATRIOT GROUP, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

GORDON MYSE, Chair of the Wisconsin Government Accountability Board; Thomas Barland its Vice Chair; each of its other members, MICHAEL BRENNAN, THOMAS CANE, GERALD C. NICHOL, and DAVID G. DEININGER; and KEVIN KENNEDY, its Director & General Counsel; each only in his official capacity,

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

non-express advocacy, therefore, may not be regulated at all. *See* Brief of Petitioners at 28-32.

It is true that independent expenditures are protected political speech, but the rest of Petitioners' view is mistaken. First, as shown in section I above, regulations imposing *disclosure* requirements on political speech without directly prohibiting or restricting speech, are subject to exacting scrutiny, not strict scrutiny. Second, as shown in section III-D-1 below, the Supreme Court has recognized that disclosure regulations are justified by important informational interests and interests in facilitating regulatory compliance, as well as by the interest in deterring actual and apparent corruption. Finally, as shown in section III-B-2 below, the Supreme Court has rejected Petitioners' view that all non-express advocacy is categorically exempt from campaign finance regulations.³

B. GAB 1.28 does not impermissibly regulate non-express advocacy.

Petitioners' first constitutional claim is that GAB 1.28 is facially overbroad because it no longer regulates only express advocacy, but rather

³Of course, the question of whether non-express advocacy can be regulated at all is not presented here because GAB 1.28 only regulates express advocacy and its functional equivalent.

has expanded in scope by redefining political purpose to include non-express advocacy. Brief of Petitioners at 33. In their original pleadings, Petitioners directed this claim primarily against the conclusive presumption in the now-repealed second sentence of GAB 1.28(3)(b). Petitioners now appear to have accepted that the existing version of sub. (3)(b) does not apply to non-express advocacy. *See* Brief of Petitioners at 33 ("GAB 1.28(3)(b) incorporated the *WRTL II* standard"). Accordingly, Petitioners now change focus, arguing that non-express advocacy is impermissibly regulated by *subsection* (3)(a), which provides that a communication is for a political purpose, if:

The communication contains terms such as the following or their functional equivalents with reference to a clearly identified candidate and unambiguously relates to the campaign of that candidate:

- 1. "Vote for;"
- 2. "Elect;"
- 3. "Support;"
- 4. "Cast your ballot for;"
- 5. "Smith for Assembly;"
- 6. "Vote against;"
- 7. "Defeat;" or
- 8. "Reject."

Wis. Admin. Code § GAB 1.28(3)(a).

That provision, according to Petitioners, now extends to non-express advocacy because it previously included language stating that a communication not only must refer to a clearly identified candidate, but

also must "expressly advocate[] the election or defeat of that candidate." Wis. Admin Code § GAB 1.28(2)(c) (2008). The removal of that phrase, according to Petitioners, broadens the scope so that any use of the enumerated terms (or synonyms) in a communication referring to a candidate will be subject to regulation, even if the communication only discusses issues associated with the candidate, without expressly advocating the candidate's election or defeat. *See* Brief of Petitioners at 34-37.

Petitioners are wrong both because the definition of communication for a political purpose in GAB 1.28(3) does not apply to non-express advocacy and because, even if it did, it still would not be overbroad.

1. The definition of communication for a political purpose in GAB 1.28(3) is not overbroad and applies only to express advocacy and its functional equivalent.

In the First Amendment context, a statute is overbroad if, in addition to imposing a permissible burden on some speech, it also sweeps within its coverage other speech that may not be burdened. *See Broadrick v. Oklahoma*, 413 U.S. 601, 612 (1973). Where the overbreadth doctrine applies, a statute may be facially invalidated because the mere existence of

an overbroad statute could have a chilling effect on speech that may not be restricted. *Id*.

The risk of a chilling effect is not present to the same degree, however, where a court can readily establish the line between conduct that may and may not be burdened. Accordingly, *Broadrick* curtailed use of facial overbreadth analysis in First Amendment cases, noting that it is "strong medicine" that should be employed "sparingly and only as a last resort" and should not be invoked "when a limiting construction has been or could be placed on the challenged statute." *Id.* at 613. Under this approach, a statute will not be facially invalidated unless its overbreadth is "not only . . . real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." *Id.* at 615. Such a rule invalidates statutes for overbreadth "only when the flaw is a substantial concern in the context of the statute as a whole." *Id.* at 616 n.14.

Here, the alleged overbreadth of GAB 1.28(3)(a) is neither real nor substantial for the simple reason that Petitioners misread the rule. They contend that "any word that is merely the 'functional equivalent' of 'support,' 'defeat,' or 'reject' will be enough to silence the speech." Br. at 36. However, under the language of the provision, a communication

using a word functionally equivalent to "support," "defeat," or "reject" is for a political purpose *only* if that word is used in a way that "unambiguously relates to the campaign of [a clearly identified] candidate. Wis. Admin. Code § GAB 1.28(3)(a).

For example, Petitioners contend that a communication using the terms "support" or "reject" in connection with discussion of a mayor's action on a budget item, if made during the mayor's re-election campaign, would be for a political purpose under sub. (3)(a) because the communication would "arguably" relate to the campaign. Petitioners at 35. That is incorrect. Under sub. (3)(a), it is not enough for a communication to "arguably" relate to the campaign—it must "unambiguously" relate to the campaign. If the communication used "support" or "reject" in a way that "unambiguously relates to" the campaign, then it would indeed be for a political purpose under sub. (3)(a), but it would likewise be express advocacy under the "magic words" approach set out in the famous footnote 52 of Buckley—with which Petitioners have stated no quarrel. See Buckley, 424 U.S. at 44 n.52. Conversely, if the communication did not unambiguously relate to the campaign, but instead used "support" or "reject" only as part of a discussion of the mayor's position on a budget issue, then the communication would *not* be for a political purpose under sub. (3)(a).

Of course, the latter type of communication still could be for a political purpose under sub. (3)(b), but *only* if it "is susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against" the mayor—a standard that Petitioners acknowledge has been approved by the Supreme Court as functionally equivalent to express advocacy. *See* Brief of Petitioners at 33 ("GAB 1.28(3)(b) incorporated the *WRTL II* standard"). On the other hand, if a communication is capable of being reasonably interpreted as something *other* than such an electoral appeal, then it would not be for a political purpose under sub. (3)(b) and hence would not be regulated, in spite of the fact that it used "support" or "reject."

In short, contrary to Petitioners' suggestions, a communication that uses terms like "support" or "reject" and refers to a clearly identified candidate may not be for a political purpose under either sub. (3)(a) or (3)(b) of GAB 1.28—as long as it: (a) does not use those terms in a way that "unambiguously relates to the campaign of that candidate"; or (b) is reasonably susceptible of being interpreted as something other than appeal to vote for or against that candidate.

Petitioners also misread GAB 1.28(3)(a) by exaggerating the significance of the deletion of "expressly advocates" from the text of that provision. According to Petitioners, this Court has recognized that an omission of language from a re-enactment or revision of a statute generally indicates an intent to alter its meaning. See Brief of Petitioners at 36 n.9 (citing Pittman v. Lieffring, 59 Wis. 2d 52, 64, 207 N.W.2d 610 (1973)). In support of that proposition, however, Pittman cited an earlier case in which this Court had recognized that "a change of language does not always indicate an intent to change the rule, but to express the same rule in shorter and more comprehensive words." Mundt v. Sheboygan and Fond du Lac R.R. Co., 31 Wis. 451, 463 (1872) (quoting Harwood v. Lowell, 58 Mass. 310, 4 Cush. 312 (1849)). Accordingly, it is G.A.B.'s position that the deletion of "expressly advocates" did not expand GAB 1.28(3)(a), but was made for stylistic reasons because it was redundant to include that phrase in a subsection whose purpose was to enumerate words which, by their nature, expressly advocate when used in a way that unambiguously relates to the campaign of a clearly identified candidate.

Moreover, under Wis. Stat. § 990.001(7), "[a] revised statute is to be understood in the same sense as the original unless the change in language

indicates a different meaning so clearly as to preclude judicial construction." See also Danielson v. City of Sun Prairie, 2000 WI App 227, 239 Wis. 2d 178, ¶ 11, 619 N.W.2d 108; Guse v. A.O. Smith Corp., 260 Wis. 403, 406, 51 N.W.2d 24 (1952) ("revisions of statutes do not change their meaning unless the intent to change the meaning necessarily and irresistibly follows from the changed language"). It is implausible to suggest that the language of GAB 1.28(3)(a) necessarily and irresistibly leads to Petitioners' interpretation, under which any use of the enumerated terms (or synonyms) in a communication referring to a candidate would automatically be subject to regulation. On the contrary, the plain language provides that such terms must also be used in a way that "unambiguously relates to the campaign of that candidate." Wis. Admin. Code § GAB 1.28(3)(a). Because the deletion of "expressly advocates" thus does not indicate Petitioners' suggested meaning so clearly as to preclude judicial construction, Wis. Stat. § 990.001(7) requires that the 2010 version of GAB 1.28(3)(a) be understood in the same sense as the prior version of the provision.⁴

⁴"Construction of administrative rules is governed by the same principles that apply to construction of statutes." *Basinas v. State*, 104 Wis. 2d 539, 546, 312 N.W.2d 483 (1981).

In addition, an explanatory note accompanying legislation is indicative of whether a revised version of a statute is intended to have a changed meaning. See Wis. Stat. § 990.001(7); see also Danielson, 239 Wis. 2d 178, ¶ 11. Here, the 2010 version of GAB 1.28 was accompanied by a detailed analysis by G.A.B. See Order of the Government Accountability Board, CR 09-013 (July 13, 2010) ("Order").5 Such an analysis is required to include a detailed explanation of the basis and purpose of the rule. See Wis. Stat. § 227.19(3)(a). The analysis of GAB 1.28 made it clear that the amendments were intended to expand the scope of the previous version by "subject[ing] to regulation communications that are 'susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against a specific candidate." Order, ¶ 5. In other words, the purpose of the 2010 amendments was to expand coverage to communications falling within the language of new subsection (3)(b)—with which Petitioners no longer take issue in their brief. There is nothing, however, in the G.A.B. analysis supporting

⁵See http://legis.wisconsin.gov/cr final/09-013.pdf (visited February 22, 2011).

Petitioners' view that the new subsection (3)(a) was intended to be broader in scope than its predecessor, GAB 1.28(2)(c) (2008).⁶

Finally, Petitioners' claim that GAB 1.28(3)(a) is facially overbroad is precluded by the analysis of the alleged overbreadth of federal reporting requirements in *Buckley*. Plaintiffs there had challenged the constitutionality of a federal provision requiring reporting of expenditures

⁶Petitioners support their argument that GAB 1.28(3)(a) is overbroad by quoting statements by G.A.B. staff indicating that the 2010 changes were intended to broaden the rule. Such factual materials should be disregarded by the Court because they were not entered into the record during the time set aside for the parties to clarify factual issues.

In any event, the staff quotations do not support Petitioners' position. There is no dispute that the amendments were intended to broaden the rule. They did so by adding subsection (3)(b), which makes it prospectively clear that the rule will apply to any communication susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against a clearly identified candidate. That guidance is exactly what this Court had previously invited. See WMC, 227 Wis. 2d at 681-82. The staff quotations do not suggest that the change in the wording of GAB 1.28(3)(a) was meant to expand that subsection. On the contrary, the quotations are consistent with the G.A.B. report, which indicates that any expansion is provided by sub. (3)(b), not by changes to sub. (3)(a).

"for the purpose of . . . influencing" the nomination or election of candidates for federal office. *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 78. The Court found that provision potentially overbroad and, to avoid constitutional problems, held that it had to be construed as applying only to expenditures expressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate. *Id.* at 80. The Court also included a footnote referring back to earlier footnote 52, which had said that a communication advocates in express terms the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate if it "contain[s] express words of advocacy of election or defeat, such as 'vote for,' 'elect,' 'support,' 'cast your ballot for,' 'Smith for Congress,' 'vote against,' 'defeat,' 'reject.'" *Id.* at 44 n.52. These "express words of advocacy" correspond precisely with the terms in GAB 1.28(3)(a).⁷

Contrary to Petitioners' suggestions, then, *Buckley* did not say that a regulation not containing the phrase "expressly advocates" is facially overbroad, but instead upheld the facial validity of regulations that did not contain such language, subject to a narrowing judicial interpretation.

⁷Petitioners try to make hay out of the fact that ¶ 119 of G.A.B.'s Answer referred to "vote for" and "vote against" in GAB 1.28(3)(a), but did not refer to broader terms, like "support" and "reject." See Brief of Petitioners at 36 n.9. Petitioners overlook the fact that "support" and "reject" were included in the list of magic words provided by Buckley. Obviously, the Court did not find those terms inherently overbroad, as Petitioners suggest.

Furthermore, *Buckley*'s narrowing interpretation indicated that a regulation is not overbroad if it applies to "communications containing express words of advocacy of election or defeat" and, as examples, supplied a list that corresponds, item-by-item, to GAB 1.28(3)(a). It strains credulity to suggest that a regulation that applies to communications containing the very terms listed in *Buckley* could be facially overbroad or vague, when the much broader and less precise statutory language at issue in *Buckley* was not facially invalid.

Here, no saving interpretation of GAB 1.28(3)(a) is needed because that provision already closely tracks the saving interpretation provided by *Buckley*. In fact, GAB 1.28(3)(a) is more narrowly tailored than the standard of *Buckley*'s footnote 52 because, in addition to listing the same "express words of advocacy" found there, GAB 1.28(3)(a) also explicitly requires that those words be used in a way that "unambiguously relates to the campaign of" a clearly identified candidate.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to accept Petitioners' suggestion that deletion of the phrase "that expressly advocates the election or defeat of that candidate" from GAB 1.28(2)(c) (2008) rendered the rule overbroad or vague, the proper remedy would be not to facially invalidate

the rule, but to supply a narrowing interpretation requiring that the words of express advocacy listed in GAB 1.28(3)(a) must be used in a way that expressly advocates the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate. Respondents believe that such a requirement is already contained in the language of the rule and that no such narrowing interpretation is needed. However, such an interpretation, although superfluous, would be harmless, since it would only confirm GAB's interpretation of the rule's plain meaning.

For the above reasons, the Court should conclude that GAB 1.28(3) applies only to express advocacy and its functional equivalent and, therefore, is not facially overbroad.

2. Even if GAB 1.28 were not limited to express advocacy and its functional equivalent, it still would be valid because it only triggers disclosure requirements, which may be applied to some non-express advocacy.

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